

Maura Hayes-Chaffe
Deputy Comptroller for Audit

Audit Report on the Administration for Children's Services' Monitoring of the Safety of Children in Foster Care

MJ22-064A | December 2, 2024







THE CITY OF NEW YORK OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER BRAD LANDER

December 2, 2024

To the Residents of the City of New York:

My office has audited the Administration for Children's Services (ACS) to determine whether it adequately monitored the safety of children in foster care. The Office of the New York City Comptroller conducts audits of City agencies such as this to increase accountability, monitor contractor compliance, and ensure that applicable policies are being followed.

The audit determined that the mechanisms used by ACS to monitor the safety of children in foster care were generally adequate. However, the audit found a serious deficiency in the agency's oversight of residential care facilities, where less than 10% of foster children placed in ACS' care resided in Fiscal Year 2023. The audit found that ACS did not conduct site visits at sampled residential care facilities in a timely manner.

Additionally, the audit found that over 1,600 children suffered maltreatment in substantiated instances of neglect and/or abuse between Fiscal Years 2020–2023. While these did not always occur in circumstances under the direct control of ACS, the audit recommends that ACS track in the aggregate the number and frequency with which incidents of neglect and abuse occur during non-court-mandated visitations with birth families. Compiling and monitoring this information would help ACS assess how often these incidents occur and the effectiveness of the agency's efforts to reduce them

The audit makes five recommendations in total. ACS agreed to implement four in its response to the draft report.

The results of the audit have been discussed with ACS officials and their comments have been considered in preparing this report. ACS' complete written response is attached to this report.

If you have any questions concerning this report, please e-mail my Audit Bureau at audit@comptroller.nyc.gov.

Sincerely,

Brad Lander

New York City Comptroller

Table of Contents

Audit Impact1
Summary of Findings
Intended Benefits
Introduction2
Background2
Foster Care Provider Responsibilities
ACS' Monitoring of Providers
ACS' Protocol for Allegations of Neglect and/or Abuse of Children within the Foster Care System
Objective
Discussion of Audit Results with ACS
Detailed Findings6
2,154 Cases of Substantiated Neglect and Abuse Incidents between 2020–2023
Incidents of Neglect and Abuse Involving Foster Children Trending Downward but Persistent
ACS Cannot Identify Incidents That Occur During Visitations under Provider Control
High Number of Substantiated Neglect and/or Abuse Incidents Involved Birth Families10
Requisite Site Visits Not Consistently Performed at Sampled Residential Foster Care Facilities1
Very Few Visits to Residential Facilities Were Unannounced12
PAMS Biannual Case Reviews Completed in a Satisfactory Manner13
Safety and Risk Alerts Issued as Needed and Appropriately Followed Up14
Sample-Based Review Found Foster Care Providers Made 95% of Required Caseworker Contacts with Foster Children15
Recommendations17
Recommendations Follow-up17
Scope and Methodology18
Appendix I2

Audit Impact

Summary of Findings

The audit found that the New York City Administration for Children's Services' (ACS) mechanisms for monitoring the safety of children in foster care during the period reviewed were generally adequate.

The audit found that incidents of neglect and abuse have been trending downward in recent years, from 4% of children in foster care with substantiated cases in 2020 to 3.1% in 2023, but that many children in foster care still suffer neglect and/or abuse. ACS data shows that between Fiscal Years 2020 and 2023, there were more than 2,000 cases of substantiated neglect and/or abuse involving more than 1,600 children.¹ Over 76% of incidents occurred while children were visiting with their birth families, and roughly a quarter occurred while the child was in the physical custody of a foster care family (whether kinship or non-relative) or some other agent employed by a foster care agency.

In some instances, decisions concerning visitation and supervision are not made by ACS or the foster care agencies but by Family Court. The audit found that ACS does not track the aggregate number of incidents that occurred during court-mandated versus non-court-mandated visitations with birth families, nor does ACS track incidents that occur during supervised versus unsupervised visits. Compiling and monitoring such information would help ACS assess both the extent to which incidents occur during non-court-mandated unsupervised visitations and the effectiveness of the agency's efforts to reduce their occurrence. ACS should evaluate the effectiveness of decisions that are within its direct control; evaluation could also inform future ACS decisions and its recommendations to Family Court.

Although ACS' monitoring mechanisms were found adequate in most areas of the foster care system, auditors found that ACS did not conduct site visits at the sampled residential care facilities in a timely manner, as called for in its policies. For four sampled providers that had been issued safety and risk alerts, ACS allowed an average of 10 months to elapse between visits—far exceeding the target timeframe of at least one visit every six months. Foster children in residential care account for less than 10% of the foster care population.

Intended Benefits

This audit identified areas in which ACS could improve its monitoring of the safety of children in foster care and steps it could take to better ensure the safety of the foster children under its care.

¹ During Fiscal Years 2020 through 2023, 76.4% of the more than 2,000 cases of substantiated incidents involved neglect only.

Introduction

Background

The mission of ACS is to protect and promote the safety and well-being of New York City's children and families. As part of this effort, the agency facilitates foster care for children when needed. Foster care is intended to provide safe and stable out-of-home care for children until they can be either safely returned home or placed in another permanent arrangement. Children in foster care include those who were removed by order of the Family Court due to neglect or abuse or based on a determination that risk of such harm exists. Foster care placement may also take place when primary caregivers have died or are otherwise unable to care for them.

ACS relies on contracted providers to operate four types of foster care programs. These include regular Family Foster Care (FFC), Treatment Family Foster Care (TFFC), Specialized Family Foster Care (SFFC), and Residential Services.

FFCs are placements in which foster parents provide care to children in family-type home settings. A relative or other person who has a significant relationship with the child's family may also be certified to be a foster parent (known as kinship foster parents).

A TFFC program serves children/youth up to age 21 who have moderate to severe behavioral or emotional issues and can be supported in foster family settings for the short term.

Children in SFFC have special medical needs and/or severe intellectual/developmental disabilities that require higher and more consistent levels of caregiving. SFFC children are often in situations that demand immediate intervention.

Residential Services offer intensive clinical services for youth (12 years and older) in a group home setting. These may include, but are not limited to, youth whose current clinical, medical, or other needs cannot be met safely and adequately in a family setting.

Foster Care Provider Responsibilities

ACS contracts with foster care providers (providers) to place and oversee children in appropriate foster care settings. Providers are required to create and maintain written service plans that include the specific steps and services needed to meet the needs of each child/youth in their care. All case records (including progress notes) are maintained in Connections (CNNX), the electronic recordkeeping system managed by the New York State Office of Children and Family Services (OCFS), the oversight agency for ACS.

Providers are responsible for recruiting foster parents and training them to provide safe, nurturing home environments. Providers also employ caseworkers who are required to conduct regular visits (casework contacts) to the foster homes where children are placed to assess the child's safety and well-being. During these contacts, caseworkers conduct safety assessments, which include determining whether there are any safety hazards in the foster home or any visible signs of abuse, including signs of mental/emotional trauma; evaluating service needs of children and their families; and verifying whether the required services are being provided (e.g., medical, therapy, and tutoring).

As stated in the *New York State Department of Social Services Rules and Regulations*, a minimum of three casework contacts must be conducted during the first 30 days of placement—two with the child and one with the foster parent.² After that, casework contacts are held at least once a month, with at least two contacts made at the child's foster care placement location every 90 days.

Providers also oversee visitation between foster children and their birth parents. New York State Law recognizes the importance of maintaining and strengthening children's connections with their birth families while in foster care. According to the Family Court Act § 1030-c, parents are to be granted reasonable and regularly scheduled visitation unless the court finds that the child's life or health would be endangered. In addition, a parent's visitation with a child who is in foster care is to be unsupervised unless supervision is warranted due to the foster care agency's concerns relating to the safety of the child. Providers are required to regularly assess the necessity for supervision, and providers' attorneys make a request to the family court for an increase or decrease to the level of supervision as appropriate.³

If a provider identifies any safety concerns during a child's court-ordered visitation, the provider works with ACS attorneys within its Family Court Legal Services (FCLS) Division to decide whether to make a motion to change a visiting plan. FCLS and the provider present the case-specific details and efforts to work within the existing plan and any alternative plans. It is at the Family Court's discretion that modifications are made to the existing visitation plan. FCLS can decide whether to appeal the Family Court's denial of a requested change in visits.

ACS' Monitoring of Providers

ACS' Division of Policy, Planning and Measurement (DPPM) is responsible for managing and overseeing policy development, new program development, and quality improvement through ACS' contract provider agencies. The Division of Family Permanency Services (FPS) is responsible for ensuring that quality services are provided to children in foster care by offering contract provider agency staff with technical assistance and services support.

The DPPM has two units—the Provider Agency Measurement System (PAMS) and the Agency Program Assistance (APA)—which assist. The PAMS unit conducts biannual, statistically random reviews of foster children cases managed by every foster care provider, including a review of casework contacts performed by the foster care providers' caseworkers. The APA unit is responsible for monitoring the performance of foster care provider agencies, including provider-operated residential care facilities. This is done by examining case records, performing site assessments at the facilities where children have been placed, and conducting interviews with children and program staff.

According to ACS' COVID-19 emergency guidance (issued March 31, 2020, and revised July 14, 2020), video conferences and phone calls were accepted in lieu of face-to-face casework

² Title 18 § 441.21

³ According to New York Social Services Law § 384-a, when a foster care agency determines to terminate or limit visiting rights between a parent or guardian and the child is voluntarily placed in foster care, parental visitation may not be terminated or limited except by court order in a proceeding in which the parent or guardian was a party. Visitation is to continue until a court order is obtained, except in cases of imminent danger to the child's life, health, and safety. In such cases, the authorized agency may terminate or limit the parent's visitation without a court order. On the same day visitation is terminated or limited, the foster care agency must commence a court action. If action is already before the court, ACS shall seek an order of the court as if the child had been taken into protective custody. The above-referenced provisions do not apply where the parent or guardian had agreed to such limitation in the voluntary placement agreement.

contacts. However, particularly high-risk cases were still expected to have in-person contacts. All COVID-related polices ended in June 2023.

ACS' Protocol for Allegations of Neglect and/or Abuse of Children within the Foster Care System

New York State Family Court Act defines neglect and abuse as follows:

- Neglect occurs when a child's physical, mental, or emotional condition has been impaired or is in imminent danger as a result of the parent's (or authorized caregiver's) failure to provide a minimum degree of care, such as food, clothing, etc.
- Abuse occurs when a child experiences serious injury, is in danger of serious injury, or experiences a sex offense through the conduct of the parent (or authorized caregiver).

A child named in an allegation may either be the subject of neglect or abuse or be present in the same household as the subject at the time that the alleged incident occurred. The Statewide Central Register (SCR) of Child Abuse and Maltreatment operates a 24-hour hotline to receive complaints of possible neglect and abuse and is responsible for screening and assigning reports of suspected child neglect and abuse to local jurisdictions for investigation. Allegations of neglect or abuse are entered by SCR into CNNX.

Alleged incidents that occur either during a supervised or unsupervised visit or trial discharge, involving the child's birth family or a close family member or friend, are designated as "familial."4 Alleged incidents that occur away from the child's birth family are categorized accordingly (e.g., "foster care," "day care").5

Allegations that fall under ACS' jurisdiction (within the five boroughs) are investigated by its Division of Child Protection (DCP).⁶ Investigative steps and timeframes to which ACS must adhere are detailed in state procedures and various ACS and OFCS directives, including the ACS Division of Child Protective Services Casework Practice Requirements Manual. Once an allegation of child maltreatment, including neglect and/or abuse, has been reported, a team consisting of a Child Protective Specialist manager, supervisor, and investigator conducts the investigation. The investigative team must conduct a thorough assessment of the safety risk level of every child in the household.

The investigation must begin within 24 hours of receipt of the report. Within this 24-hour period, the investigative team must have face-to-face or telephone contact with the subject(s) and other person(s) named in the report, the source of the report, and/or other persons in a position to provide information about whether the child may be in immediate danger of serious harm. In addition, a criminal history check must be conducted on all family members within the household. All details of each investigation must be documented by the investigation team within the progress notes section of CNNX.

⁴ As a general rule, a child should not be trial or final discharged without first having experienced successful overnight and weekend visits with the parent over a period of time.

⁵ The OSI data provided by ACS regarding alleged and substantiated incidents of neglect and/or abuse did not distinguish between kinship and traditional (non-relative) foster care placements. The instances of neglect and/or abuse for foster children placed with kin are included in the foster care numbers, not in the familial numbers.

⁶ DCP is comprised of several offices including: (1) the Office of Special Investigations, which investigates allegations where the foster parent is the respondent in the allegation, and (2) the Child Protective Borough Offices, which investigates allegations concerning the child's birth family.

New York State mandates require that the investigation be concluded, and a final determination be made of the allegation, within 60 days of receipt of the report. If the investigation reveals that "some credible evidence" of child neglect and/or abuse exists, the report is deemed "indicated" (or substantiated).

When safety deficiencies involving a child in traditional (non-relative) or kinship foster care are identified, the Office of Special Investigations (OSI) investigative team may make corrective action plan (CAP) recommendations to a foster care provider. However, a CAP will not be issued in certain circumstances, such as a determination that there are no serious safety factors and/or risk issues requiring on-going assessment, a recommendation to close the foster home, or when preventive services, court-ordered services and/or court-ordered supervision have not been deemed necessary.

The provider has up to 20 days to respond to and implement the CAP, unless the determination requires immediate implementation, such as in cases requiring the removal of a child from the foster home.

According to the Fiscal Year 2023 *Mayor's Management Report* (MMR), there has been a steady decline in the average number of children in ACS' foster care system, going from 8,341 children in FY2019 to 6,728 children in FY2023—a decrease of 19.3%. According to ACS' data on foster care investigations, for the period covering FY2020 through FY2023, there were a total of 2,154 substantiated instances of neglect and/or abuse involving 1,641 children in foster care. A review of the data shows a slight decrease in the total percentage of substantiated incidents of neglect and/or abuse involving children in foster care, dropping from 4% to 3.1% from FY2020 to FY2023.

Objective

The objective of the audit was to determine whether ACS adequately monitors the safety of children in foster care.

Discussion of Audit Results with ACS

The matters covered in this report were discussed with ACS officials during and at the conclusion of this audit. An Exit Conference Summary was sent to ACS and discussed with ACS officials at an exit conference held on August 20, 2024. On October 4, 2024, we submitted a Draft Report to ACS with a request for written comments. We received a response from ACS on October 21, 2024. In its response, ACS generally agreed with four recommendations (#1, #3, #4, and #5) and disagreed with one recommendation (#2).

ACS' written comments have been fully considered and, where relevant, changes and comments have been added to the report.

The full text of ACS' response is included as an addendum to this report.

⁷ Kinship foster care placements are overseen and monitored by foster care agencies as with traditional (non-relative) foster care placements.

Detailed Findings

The audit found that the mechanisms used by ACS to monitor the safety of children in foster care are generally adequate, with the exception of oversight of residential care facilities, where less than 10% of the foster children placed in ACS' care resided in Fiscal Year 2023. The audit also found that an alarming number of children in foster care continue to suffer substantiated cases of neglect and/or abuse (also referred to generally throughout this report as maltreatment). These do not always occur in circumstances within the direct control of ACS.

The audit found that ACS reviews foster care case records on schedule, issues safety and risk alerts to foster care providers when necessary, and assesses caseworker contacts with foster children. A sample review of 172 case record reviews conducted by the PAMS unit found that ACS satisfactorily identified and addressed safety risks for children receiving foster care from contracted providers and followed up to ensure that providers addressed deficiencies. The PAMS reviews also assessed whether providers conducted in-person visits to foster homes. A detailed examination of 30 of the 172 PAMS case record reviews found that caseworkers made 96% of the required number of contacts with foster children (e.g., in-person visits to foster homes) during the year, meeting federally mandated requirements.

However, the audit found a serious deficiency in the oversight over residential care facilities. APA did not conduct site visits at the sampled residential care facilities in a timely manner. For four sampled providers that had been issued safety and risk alerts by PAMS reviewers between March 2021 and December 2023, ACS' APA unit allowed an average of nine months to elapse between visits—far exceeding the target timeframe of at least one visit every six months. Failure to conduct the required in-person visits at residential facilities increases the risk that health and safety issues or program inefficiencies are not identified and corrected in a timely manner.

In addition, the data obtained from ACS shows that between FYs 2020 and 2023 there were 2,154 cases of substantiated neglect and/or abuse, involving more than 1,600 children (some children have more than one case). A majority of these were neglect cases—76.4% of these substantiated incidents involved neglect only; 21.3% involved both neglect and abuse; and 2.3% involved abuse alone. An analysis of substantiated incidents of neglect and abuse cases found that 24% of such incidents—508 in total—occurred while the child was in the physical custody of a foster care family or some other agent (e.g., residential facility) employed by a foster care agency. One incident occurred at day care, away from the child's birth family. The remaining 1,645 (76%) incidents were familial in nature, meaning they occurred while children were visiting with a birth parent, family member, or a person with a significant relationship with the child, after being placed in foster care. In some instances, decisions concerning visitation and supervision are made by Family Court rather than ACS.

The audit reviewed ACS' processes for addressing and tracking incidents of neglect and/or abuse and found that ACS does not compile or monitor in the aggregate whether incidents occurred during non-court-mandated visitations with birth families or during supervised or unsupervised visits. Compiling and monitoring such information would help ACS assess both the extent to which incidents occur during non-court-mandated unsupervised visitations and the effectiveness of the agency's efforts to reduce the rate of such occurrences. This information could in turn inform related internal policies and future decisions.

Similarly, ACS does not aggregate data for incidents that occur during court-ordered unsupervised visitations and trial discharges. While ACS does not have control over such decisions, it has access to this data through OSI. Tracking and evaluating this information could

help ACS identify trends in the frequency of incidents. Evaluating these should inform future recommendations by ACS to Family Court.

2,154 Cases of Substantiated Neglect and Abuse Incidents between 2020–2023

There was a total of 2,154 incidents of neglect and/or abuse involving 1,641 children in foster care during the four-year period from FY2020 to FY2023. Although there has been a slight decrease in the average percentage of children in foster care who have been the subject of substantiated incidents of neglect and/or abuse each year (dropping from 4% in FY2020 to 3.1% in FY2023). 341 children in foster care were still maltreated in FY2023.

Table I below provides a breakdown of the substantiated incidents among the above-mentioned categories.

Table I: Breakdown of Substantiated Instances of Neglect and/or Abuse of Children in Foster Care during Fiscal Years 2020 through 2023

								Categ	jory		
Fiscal Year	Daily Average Number of Children in Foster Care as Reported by ACS	Total Number of Children Who Entered Foster Care During the Year as Reported by ACS'	Children with Substantiated Instances of Neglect and/or Abuse"	roster Care	Number of Substantiated Instances	(Inc occurs superv unsup visits disch involvi family	nilial ident during vised or ervised or trial narges ng birth or close nily er/friend)	(Inc occ away the c birth invo	ident curs / from thild's family slving ster rent)	(Inc oc away the o	ident curs / from child's family y care)
						No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
2020	7,827	12,956	521	4%	598	442	73.9%	155	25.9%	1	>0%
2021	7,639	12,172	536	4.4%	610	458	75.1%	152	24.9%	0	N/A
2022	7,140	11,713	497	4.2%	547	435	79.5%	112	20.5%	0	N/A
2023	6,728	11,136	341	3.1%	399	310	77.7%	89	22.3%	0	N/A
Total			1,641*		2,154	1,645	76.4%	508	23.6%	1	>0%

^{*}Figures include children who resided for at least one day in foster care during the year.

A substantiated incident does not automatically require that children be removed from their foster care settings: only those children who cannot remain safely are removed, as in the case of substantiated abuse incidents. In cases of substantiated neglect, a child may remain at a foster home if investigators determine that their health, well-being, and safety are not at immediate risk. For example, if a child is not receiving adequate medical or mental health services, OSI may direct the foster care provider to furnish such services without removing the child.

This column does not total because some children were included in the figures for more than one year.

As shown in the table above, more than three quarters of the substantiated incidents occurred while the children were visiting with family members (i.e., familial). According to ACS data, 1,646 (76.4%) of the 2,154 substantiated incidents involved neglect only; 458 (21.3%) involved both neglect and abuse; and 50 (2.3%) involved abuse alone.

Of the 508 cases where foster parents were accused, 370 (72.8%) involved neglect only, 12 (2.4%) involved abuse only, and 126 (24.8%) involved both neglect and abuse. These percentage breakdowns were relatively consistent over the four-year period, though the overall percentage of children involved in such instances trended downward along with the total number of children in foster care.8

Incidents of Neglect and Abuse Involving Foster Children Trending Downward but Persistent

ACS prepares a Strategic Management Report (SMR) each quarter that is presented in its monthly monitoring meeting with OCFS. This document reports on the agency's efforts in the areas of child safety, prevention services, youth justice, early care and education, and foster care, and provides various statistics on a yearly basis.

A review of this data shows downward trends in some key metrics, including the number of children impacted by substantiated investigations and in repeated substantiated investigations within a single year. One such indicator is the number of children per every 100,000 days of care provided to all children. According to ACS, this measure was established by the federal government. (In Calendar Year 2023, ACS provided over 2.3 million days of care to more than 6,000 children per day on average.) According to the March 2024 SMR, the number of children who were maltreated while in foster care at the time of the incidents has significantly decreased in recent years, going from 21.7 children per 100,000 care days in CY2020 to 12.8 children in CY2023. Regarding children who were maltreated by a foster parent, the numbers went from 7.7 children in CY2020 to 2.9 children in CY2023.

This apparent improvement is not, however, reflected in overall percentages of children suffering confirmed instances of neglect and/or abuse. Overall numbers remain within a 2% margin over this four-year period, and as reported in the March 2024 SMR, more than 300 children in foster care were still impacted by neglect and/or abuse during CY2023. In 70 cases (23%), this maltreatment was by foster parents directly overseen by ACS and its providers.

At the exit conference for this audit, ACS stated that the agency implemented several initiatives in the period following the audit (after 2023) that are intended to reduce the rate of incidents involving foster children, including:9

Case Conferences with key stakeholders to discuss concerns/issues found during the investigation (started in FY2024).

⁸ In its response to the Draft Report, ACS argued that the audit misrepresents the number of children who were maltreated while in foster care. However, a comparison of the figures from this report with those in the ACS response show the difference to be negligible, with the latter showing a higher number of incidents (2,258) and number of children involved in those incidents (1,972). The figures used in this report represent a summary of the detailed data (e.g., listing of individual incidents, type of maltreatment) provided by ACS during the course of the audit. Conversely, ACS provides no support for the summary data contained in its response, so the auditors are unable to independently corroborate those figures.

⁹ These were implemented too recently to assess during the current audit.

- A special program to reduce neglect called Trauma Informed Parenting Program (TRIPP) to strengthen foster parents' capacity to support children who have experienced neglect and abuse.
- New contracts (implemented on July 1, 2023) that integrate regular and therapeutic family foster care into a new model called Enhanced Family Foster Care (EFFC). EFFC recognizes that all children in care have experienced some level of trauma, that their needs may change over time, and that their strengths must be supported so they can reach their full potential.

Officials also referenced various ongoing efforts, including (1) a focus on kinship foster home placements; (2) increasing parent advocacy support for birth parents; and (3) working with providers to strengthen recruitment and support of foster parents. Auditors are unable to assess the extent to which these efforts contributed to the declining rate of neglect and abuse incidents for children in foster care.

ACS Cannot Identify Incidents That Occur During Visitations under Provider Control

While ACS tracks several key indicators pertaining to the types of substantiated incidents and those responsible for these incidents, the agency does not track data that would allow it to better identify neglect and/or abuse that occurs under circumstances that are primarily controlled by ACS and foster care agencies—namely, incidents involving birth families during visitations that were not ordered by the court and were unsupervised. Compiling and monitoring such information would help ACS assess whether appropriate decisions were made to allow such visits. These could also inform related internal policies.

As indicated earlier, approximately one-quarter of neglect and abuse incidents occurred while the children were in the foster family placement, which is under the direct purview of the foster care providers who report to ACS. In addition, more than 75% of the incidents occurred during visits, trial discharges, or kinship foster homes with the birth family that were scheduled by and at the discretion of foster care providers.

Auditors attempted to determine the extent to which substantiated familial incidents occurred during court-ordered visitations and trial discharges. Although this information is recorded by OSI in the files it compiles for each investigation, ACS does not track or aggregate this information. ACS also does not track the aggregate number of incidents that occur during supervised versus unsupervised visitations.

Consequently, ACS does not track the number of familial incidents of abuse that occurred during non-court-mandated visits and whether they were supervised or unsupervised, and therefore does not know what proportion of all familial incidents occur during such incidents. ACS is not currently evaluating the impact of its decisions—and those of its providers—to allow discretionary visitation and whether such visitation is supervised or unsupervised. This is a missed opportunity to more effectively evaluate its efforts to safeguard children in its care. This information would

¹⁰ In its response to the Draft Report, ACS disagreed with this finding, stating that the details about cases are fully documented and understood by personnel involved in the respective cases. However, this information is not captured in the aggregate data and can only be ascertained through independent reviews of individual case records.

help ACS identify familial incidents that occur during non-court-ordered visits with the birth families and track the effectiveness of strategies to reduce the number of such incidents.

High Number of Substantiated Neglect and/or Abuse Incidents Involved Birth Families

As part of a review of 172 sampled cases, auditors found that 10 children were named in 17 substantiated cases of neglect and/or abuse that occurred during FYs 2021, 2022, and 2023. Of the 10 children, four were named in two or more incidents.

A review of ACS' Division of Child Protection investigation data showed that all 17 incidents were familial—meaning that a member of the child's birth family perpetrated the neglect or abuse during visits, trial discharges or while in kinship foster homes. Of the 10 children, one moved, so their case and the responsibility for subsequent follow-up was transferred to another county outside of ACS' jurisdiction. For the remaining 15 incidents (involving nine children), the investigative records indicate that none resulted in physical injury to the foster children. Auditors reviewed the measures taken by ACS and the responsible foster care agencies in response to those incidents.

In only one case do the investigative notes indicate that a request was made to suspend the foster child's visitation with the birth families. The court denied the request. Rather, the investigative notes for these cases indicate that foster care providers attempted to work with birth families by providing additional support services and increasing oversight of these families.

In one case, the investigation determined that the birth parent neglected the child during a courtordered trial discharge by failing to provide the minimum standard of care, including lack of adequate food, shelter, and clothing. OSI determined in a subsequent incident that the birth parent—who had by then been granted custody—abused the child by using excessive corporal punishment (spanking). The report does not indicate that any injuries were sustained during the incident.

To address these issues, OSI issued a CAP recommending that the foster care agency closely monitor the birth parent through announced and unannounced visits to the home; assist the birth parent in re-engaging in therapeutic services; provide babysitting services; and provide social service funds for food, medical care, and rent. The foster care agency, through prevention services provided by ACS designed to keep children with birth families, continued to monitor the home on a weekly basis.

In another case, the investigation determined that the birth parent abused their child during a routine weekend visitation (i.e., one not ordered by the court). The birth mother used excessive corporal punishment (forcefully hitting the child on its bottom multiple times). This report also notes that no injuries were sustained during the incident.

To address this incident, OSI issued a CAP recommending that the birth mother be referred to specialized training for children with special needs, and that the foster child be provided individual therapy. The provider agency was then required to follow all recommendations from the therapeutic evaluation.

ACS officials stated that under certain circumstances, ACS or foster care agencies have no say in whether or not a child is allowed to visit their birth family. For example, a judge can order a foster child to be temporarily returned to their birth family on a trial discharge at any stage of the child protective proceeding/court process. A judge can also order a child to be released to their birth family with supervision by ACS if the judge believes that the child will not be in imminent danger if returned to family care.

Overall, the audit found that the measures taken by foster care agencies appeared to be targeted to address the circumstances that led to the neglect and abuse incidents. However, auditors did not have access to the detailed histories of the children and families involved and the audit is unable to offer opinions regarding the adequacy of those measures.

Requisite Site Visits Not Consistently Performed at Sampled Residential Foster Care Facilities

APA is required to conduct site visits to all contracted child welfare residential facilities to ensure they are following ACS Quality Assurance Standards and New York State foster care regulations.

In FY2023, approximately 9% of the children in foster care lived in residential foster care facilities. ACS procedures require APA to visit sites every six months (or approximately every 180 days). During these visits, the monitors conduct walkthroughs to review ongoing provider activities and interview both staff and children to get their perspectives on the residential programs. All rooms at the facility must be observed to assess for safety hazards, including rooms that youth do not access (i.e., basements, boiler rooms, kitchens, etc.).

APA safety alerts can be generated from site visits if there is a child-specific safety concern identified. The basis of an alert could be, for example, a child saying that they are being bullied by another child or staffer, or if they are not being given prescribed medication. Program staff are required to address immediate safety concerns and repairs as needed.

The auditors sampled four foster care providers that had received safety and risk alerts from PAMS relating to their residential facilities and found that APA did not make the requisite number of site visits to residential facilities during FYs 2021 through 2023 (as of December 2023). 11 For these facilities, the time between visits consistently exceeded the 180-day target.

On average, the providers conducted visits every 282 days (around nine months). The number of days between visits ranged from 153 days (five months) to 636 days (21 months). For the latter, APA visited a male residential facility in the Bronx on February 3, 2022, but did not return until November 1, 2023. ACS officials stated that all APA site visits were halted to launch the laborintensive process of implementing new contracts and closing programs during the winter of 2022-2023.

According to documentation summarizing the results of the visits, there were no APA visits at any of the four providers' residential care facilities (a total of 14 facilities) for a full year, covering the period September 17, 2022, through September 28, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, four of the 14 facilities (one from each of the four sampled providers) had at least one in-person visit in November or December 2023.

¹¹ A total of 14 foster care providers operated residential care facilities during the audit scope period. The four sampled foster care providers that were issued alerts based on PAMS reviews were as follows: Children's Village, Good Shepherd Services (GSS), Jewish Child Care Association (JCCA), and St. John's Residence.

No child safety alerts had been identified during the last visits conducted in FYs 2021 and 2022. ¹² Notes from the reviews indicated that children interviewed by APA stated they felt safe at the facilities. APA detailed certain environmental conditions that needed correction (e.g., a foster care provider did not conduct a fire drill; peeling paint on door frames), but none that required safety alerts. Nonetheless, failure to conduct periodic visits increases the risk that unsafe conditions or instances of noncompliance with APA Residential Care Monitor Visit Protocols will not be identified or addressed in a timely manner.

Due to COVID concerns, APA only performed virtual visits of the audit's selected foster care agencies during FY2021. In FY2022, APA provided all residential care programs the option of having their visits conducted virtually (i.e., via MS Teams or Zoom) rather than in-person, depending on the degree of severity of COVID-related conditions at the sites/campuses. During that year, APA increased its overall number of residential visits (including both in-person and virtual visits).

Of the four sampled providers, ACS stated that only one (Children's Village) opted out of in-person visits. According to ACS, APA and Children's Village discussed the feasibility of conducting in-person visits and, in the interest of keeping youth and staff safe, agreed to the virtual option based on the increased number of COVID cases on the Children's Village campus and to comply with Mayoral directives and Centers for Disease Control's guidelines. However, ACS stated that this was discussed during a phone call and as there is no documentation of this agreement, auditors were unable to verify this statement. The auditors also note that APA had still not performed any in-person visits to Children's Village through the first quarter of FY2023 (October 2023). By this time, the entire City work force had returned to the office and in-person shopping and dining had resumed for a full year.

Periodic in-person visits are essential to better assess these facilities and ensure that children are living in safe conditions. Following the exit conference, ACS officials stated that the Residential Care & Permanency Planning Unit (RCPPU), a unit within ACS' Division of Family Permanency Services (FPS) conducted weekly site visits to all residential programs (including Children's Village). ¹³ According to the agency, the unit met with the programs to discuss concerns and provide support for youth and the program staff, as needed.

ACS provided the auditors with the dates and internal emails showing the results of the RCPPU visits. A review of the internal emails revealed that the scope and nature of the visits performed by RCPPU did not mirror the duties typically performed by APA, which include observing the rooms at the facility for safety hazards and generating alerts when child-specific safety concerns are identified. Rather, the RCCPU visits were more geared towards casework visits and discussions with facility staff and foster children regarding discharge planning and permanency. ¹⁴

Very Few Visits to Residential Facilities Were Unannounced

Through FY2023, APA residential site visit protocols stated that APA visits may be announced or unannounced (i.e., with or without advance notice). According to ACS, visits to review physical

¹² Although no safety alerts were issued at these site visits, APA monitors did identify physical site safety concerns such as fire extinguishers that were missing or needed to be replaced, peeling paint, and blocked exits that pose potential safety risks in case of an emergency.

¹³ The RCPPU aims to provide technical assistance to residential providers in support of timely permanency planning, response to social environment and effective transitions.

¹⁴ In its response to the Draft Report, ACS disagreed with this finding, stating that the APA semi-annual residential site visits are not required by law or state regulations. However, they are required according to ACS' written procedures, which served as the basis of the audit's criteria and analysis.

conditions and conduct interviews with staff and youth are announced. Unannounced visits are generally performed on a case-by-case basis to follow up on previously identified safety and program issues.

Unannounced visits are more likely to provide an accurate picture of the conditions at residential sites and reduce the opportunity for staff at those sites to mask deficiencies. Such visits are critical to ensuring that children in foster care are safe and receiving appropriate care.

However, during the two-year period covered in the auditors' review of 26 residential visits conducted at the four sampled facilities, only one was unannounced. The sole purpose of this site visit (made to the Jewish Child Care Association, located in Pleasantville, NY) was to observe and identify safety-related concerns pertaining to food supply management, meal preparation, and food distribution operations (youth had previously expressed dissatisfaction with the food preparation and options).

ACS officials informed the auditors that the agency modified its policy, requiring APA to conduct at least one announced and one unannounced visit to residential facilities each year (effective July 3. 2023). ACS officials stated that APA staff plan to conduct announced site visits during the first round of the fiscal year (July 2023 to January 2024) and unannounced visits during the second round (March 2024 to June 2024).

PAMS Biannual Case Reviews Completed in a **Satisfactory Manner**

According to the PAMS Case Record Review Instrument Guidelines, PAMS reviewers are required to conduct reviews of sampled foster care cases for each contracted foster care provider agency twice a year. 15 Reviewers must use the prescribed case record review instrument (a standardized list of questions and response categories) and answer each question accurately based on the documentation in CNNX case records.

The auditors reviewed PAMS responses to a randomly selected stratified sample of 172 of the 1,654 case file reviews completed in FY2021. The sample review focused on the 25 categories included in the review instrument that were devoted to child safety, which include questions related to whether: (1) appropriate actions and/or services were provided in response to the child's service needs; (2) the case record adequately documents that the child has been placed in a safe and healthy setting; and (3) the child was safe at the time of the review. (All categories are listed in Appendix I.)

The auditors found that the reviewers generally followed guideline instructions by performing safety reviews of foster care case records and answering all safety-related review instrument questions for each case. 16 Sufficient evidence was found showing that the reviewers conducted systematic reviews of the case records and that their responses were generally consistent and thorough. Subsequent PAMS reviews were conducted for 16 of the 172 sampled cases over the

¹⁵ There are two rounds of reviews each year: Round 1 is conducted from September to February, and Round 2 is conducted from February/March through June.

¹⁶ The 172 cases were selected based on a stratified population of cases by program type. There were 126 program types, including Family Foster Care, Residential Care, and Treatment Family Foster Care.

next two fiscal years (nine in FY2022 and seven in FY2023).¹⁷ Auditors again identified no deficiencies in the PAMS reviews.

To determine whether providers took steps to mitigate safety concerns, auditors performed an indepth review of 30 case files in which PAMS reviewers identified safety issues but determined that safety alerts were not warranted. For each of these cases, auditors determined that there was evidence that providers put steps in place to protect the child, as indicated.

Safety and Risk Alerts Issued as Needed and Appropriately Followed Up

According to the *PAMS Case Record Review Instrument Guidelines*, a "Safety Alert" must be generated and issued immediately to the foster care provider if a reviewer determines that there is a behavior, condition, or circumstance that potentially places a child in immediate or impending danger or causes serious harm. Safety Alerts should also be issued if the current safety of the child cannot be determined. When a PAMS reviewer identifies no immediate danger but a likelihood that a child may be abused or maltreated in the future, an "Unattended Risk Alert" should be issued.

Upon receipt of an alert, foster care providers are expected to develop safety plans when warranted and intervene with the family within 48 hours to resolve the issue. Providers are required to document in CNNX the actions taken within two business days. The APA Unit follows up on all PAMS-issued alerts. Between March 2020 and June 2021, ACS issued new guidance to providers stating that they were not required to provide responses to risk alerts unless specifically asked to do so by APA, though providers were still required to respond to all safety alerts. ACS issued this directive as part of an effort to focus on immediate safety issues, while adjusting to unforeseen challenges presented by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Auditors' analysis of the PAMS reviews found that reviewers were unable to determine whether children were safe in 15 of the 172 sampled cases due to a lack of substantive or consecutive contact with the child throughout the review period and/or the identification of an issue that posed an immediate risk concern. In these 15 cases, ACS issued five risk alerts (covering five cases) and 14 safety alerts (covering 10 cases) to foster care providers as a result of PAMS reviews.¹⁸

In the five risk alerts, PAMS reviewers cited the foster care providers for not providing essential services, such as medical services. In the 14 safety alerts, PAMS reviewers cited the foster care agencies because reviewers were not able to assess the safety of the children for a variety of reasons (e.g., providers lacked contact with children, children were absent without leave).

Of the 14 safety alerts that required a response, the auditors found that the foster care providers responded to 13 of the alerts within two days. For the remaining safety alert, which was issued

¹⁷ From the 172 sampled cases, auditors selected for review 45 cases of which they either performed in-depth reviews (30 cases) or had safety alerts (15 cases). There were 16 of the 45 cases that had subsequent PAMS reviews either in Fiscal Year 2022 or 2023.

¹⁸ PAMS reviewers sent safety alerts and risk alerts to the following foster care providers: The Children's Village, St. John's Residence for Boys, Children's Aid Society, SCO Family Services, Jewish Child Care Association, Good Shepherd Services, Abbott House, Graham Windham, Seaman's Society, Little Flower Children Family Services of New York.

because of an incomplete Family Assessment Service Plan (FASP), this was due to a delay in document entry that was completed after the PAMS review was completed.¹⁹

Based on evidence received from the providers, APA subsequently determined that the safety alerts were adequately resolved. The auditors found that the responses and documentation submitted by the providers supported APA's determination.

Sample-Based Review Found Foster Care Providers Made 95% of Required Caseworker Contacts with Foster Children

According to the *PAMS Case Record Review Instrument Guidelines*, a PAMS reviewer is required to review and assess a caseworker's contacts and visits to assess a foster child's safety, as part of the safety review. In accordance with Federal Social Security Act § 424, each state is required to make 95% of the visits that would occur during the year if each child were visited once every month while in foster care.

There are two key types of contacts used to assess a child's safety:

- (1) Casework contacts with child, which are defined as individual or group face-to-face contacts between the caseworker and the child.²⁰ This includes documented face-to-face contacts, which are used to implement the service task in the family and child's service plan; and
- (2) Casework contacts with foster parent/childcare worker, which are defined as face-to-face contacts by the caseworker with the person or people immediately responsible for day-today care.

PAMS reviewers are required to determine whether the progress notes recorded in CNNX reflect a meaningful observation focused on assessing the behaviors, conditions, and/or circumstances relevant to the contact type, and whether credit should be given for a caseworker's participation in a specific contact by assessing the quality of the contacts.

In a random sample of 30 foster care cases, auditors reviewed the PAMS-completed assessments and compared them to the progress notes and contact summary reports.²¹ Auditors found the PAMS reviews to be thorough, comprehensive, and sufficient to determine the level of interaction and observation during the contacts made by caseworkers.

For the 30 sampled cases, the caseworkers were required to make a total of 342 contacts—178 with the foster children and 164 with the foster parent/childcare worker. Upon review of the case files, PAMS reviewers determined that caseworkers met the minimum criteria in 326 contacts

¹⁹ The FASP is the primary tool for documentation of all information and casework activity related to an ongoing child welfare services case in NYS. It provides a uniform framework for gathering and documenting assessment information, supporting and recording decisions, and developing and approving plans to address a family's most significant child welfare issues, needs, and concerns.

²⁰ Starting in March 2020, video conferences and phone calls were allowed by OCFS as a substitute for in-person, face-to-face contacts because of the COVID pandemic. As of June 30, 2023, only in-person contacts are allowed.

²¹ The contact summary reports are used by the reviewer to summarize the number of casework contacts required, made or missed for the review period.

(95%).²² Auditors examined the progress notes extracted from CNNX and determined that there was sufficient evidence that these contacts took place.

For the remaining 16 required contacts (5%)—eight with the foster children and eight with the foster parent/childcare workers—PAMS reviews determined there was lack of evidence in the progress notes that the contacts were conducted. However, the PAMS reviews determined that the children were safe at the time of the review because contacts were made prior to, or during the reviews.

To address the concerns for the previously missed contacts, PAMS reviews issued past practice risk alerts to inform them of the policy. Providers are then required to explain the deficiencies. In addition, the providers' missed contacts put them at risk of falling below the 95% requirement for the review year.

²² Sampled case contacts consisted of contacts between caseworker and child and caseworker and foster parents.

Recommendations

To address the abovementioned findings, the auditors propose that ACS should:

1. Make all reasonable efforts to collect, aggregate, and analyze data that would allow the agency to track substantiated incidents that occur during unsupervised visitations, courtordered visitations, and trial discharges to better identify and track the occurrence of incidents over which ACS and foster care agencies have a greater degree of control and to evaluate outcomes from Family Court decisions. Use related data and analysis to identify risk factors to inform future decisions and recommendations.

ACS Response: ACS agreed with this recommendation.

2. Require any parent found to engage in neglect or abuse during a visitation undergo mandatory counseling to address underlying factors (e.g., substance abuse, anger management) that are a contributing cause of the behavior leading to the maltreatment.

ACS Response: ACS disagreed with this recommendation, stating that, "service recommendations and other outcomes of any substantiated allegation of maltreatment are highly individualized [...]."

Auditor Comment: The auditors understand the need for individualized responses but reiterate the need to ensure parents receive counseling when involved in substantiated instances of abuse or neglect during visitation.

3. Identify the factors contributing to the decrease in the rate of substantiated instances of neglect or abuse and, where feasible, take steps to continue that trend.

ACS Response: ACS agreed with this recommendation.

4. Ensure that the required number of residential site visits are conducted at all residential care facilities, and that those visits are done in-person and at reasonable intervals.

ACS Response: ACS agreed with this recommendation.

5. Perform unannounced visits to all foster care agency-run residential care facilities on a regular basis to ensure that the children at those facilities continue to receive appropriate care.

ACS Response: ACS agreed with this recommendation.

Recommendations Follow-up

Follow-up will be conducted periodically to determine the implementation status of each recommendation contained in this report. Agency reported status updates are included in the Audit Recommendations Tracker available here: https://comptroller.nyc.gov/services/for-thepublic/audit/audit-recommendations-tracker/

Scope and Methodology

We conducted this performance audit in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS). GAGAS requires that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions within the context of our audit objective(s). This audit was conducted in accordance with the audit responsibilities of the City Comptroller as set forth in Chapter 5, §93, of the New York City Charter. The scope of this audit was July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2023.

To obtain an understanding of the responsibilities and regulations relating to ACS's monitoring of the safety of children in foster care, the auditors reviewed and used the following documents as their audit criteria:

- New York State Office of Children and Family Services (OCFS) Child Protective Services Manual:
- ACS Foster Care Quality Assurance Standards 2011;
- Title 18 New York Codes, Rules and Regulations (NYCRR) part 441.21 Casework Contacts; NYCCR part 428.5 Progress Notes; NYCCR part 428.6 Family Assessments and Service Plans:
- Social Security Act § 422;
- ACS PAMS Foster Care Reviewer Guidelines for Fiscal Years 2021 and 2022;
- ACS Performance Monitoring Guidance Update March 31, 2020;
- ACS Emergency Guidance for Foster Care Providers: Casework Contacts, Family Time and Family Team Conferences, Revised June 4, 2021;
- APA Residential Care Monitor Site Visit Protocols for Fiscal Years 2021 through 2023:
- APA Interim Residential Care Virtual Site Visit Protocol, Updated March 31, 2021;
- ACS Division of Child Protection Casework Practice Requirements Manual; and
- New York State Child Protective Services Manual.

To gain an understanding of how ACS monitors foster care agencies to ensure the safety of the foster children, the auditors evaluated the agency safety mechanisms in place and interviewed ACS officials and staff including:

- Associate Commissioner of ACS's Office of Policy, Contracts and Monitoring within the Division of Policy Planning and Measurement (DPPM);²³
- PAMS Director;
- APA Manager; and
- APA Lead Monitor.

²³ DPPM includes the PAMS and APA units.

In addition, the auditors met with the President and CEO of The Children's Village foster care agency to obtain a foster care provider's point of view of the foster care process.

Additionally, the auditors interviewed the Associate Commissioner and Executive Director from ACS' Office of Research and Analytics (ORA), the unit tasked with calculating the sample size of eligible foster children from the general population to be reviewed by PAMS annually, to obtain an understanding of the foster children population and sample size determination process.

To obtain an understanding of the NYS OCFS CNNX system (New York State's case management records system used by foster care agencies as their system of record to document each foster child's case and related activities), and ACS' review (including PAMS), the auditors conducted a walkthrough of the system led by the CNNX Senior Business Manager under OCFS.

The auditors obtained electronic data records on a population consisting of 1,654 Fiscal Year 2021 foster care cases that were reviewed by PAMS; 1,374 Office of Special Investigations (OSI) substantiated cases of child abuse covering 1,573 incidents while children were in foster care from July 1, 2020 through July 30, 2023.

The auditors conducted various data reliability tests of the dataset to check for questionable entries (including duplicates, blank fields, and inconsistent information). In addition, to determine whether the Fiscal Year 2021 PAMS reviews were performed and complete, the auditors first stratified the population of 1.654 of cases reviewed by program type and randomly selected 172 cases for review, using the RAT-STATS statistical sampling software. The 172 case files raw data was evaluated for indications that all 25 PAMS Safety Case Record Review Questions were addressed, including whether controlling interventions and safety plans, if applicable, were evaluated. The auditors also reviewed the responses and determined whether: (1) appropriate actions and/or services were provided in response to the child service needs; (2) the case record document adequately documented the child was placed in a safe and healthy setting; and (3) the child was safe at the time of the review.

From the auditors' analysis of PAMS reviewer answers to the review questions. 15 cases were identified in which risk or safety alerts were required to be issued. For these 15 cases, the auditors reviewed documentation to ascertain whether: (1) ACS appropriately notified the foster care agencies of the identified risk and safety alerts; (2) there were the required timely response to the alerts by the foster care agencies; (3) there was adequate APA follow-up to ensure that the foster care agencies addressed the risk and safety issues; and (4) any of the identifies issues reoccurred during subsequent PAMS reviews, if applicable.

To test the accuracy and thoroughness of the PAMS Fiscal Year 2021 Safety and Risk Assessment reviews, auditors randomly selected 30 cases for in-depth analysis. The auditors attempted to corroborate PAMS reviewers' responses to the safety record questions with their own review using the children's case file information, including the documented FASPs and Case Progress Notes (recorded in CNNX) for each of the 30 cases. Further, to determine whether casework contacts were held with the children and foster parents, the auditors reviewed and verified PAMS recorded case work contacts documented in each of the Case Progress Notes and the Contact Summary report.²⁴

To determine the status of the 172 Fiscal Year 2021 PAMS reviewed foster cases as of November 20, 2023, the auditors obtained information on each case including whether: (1) the child's case

²⁴ The Case Summary Report summarizes all the contacts for each case under review. It includes the number of required contacts completed, the credited contacts, the non-credited contacts and those that were attempted for the period under review. The report also captures the month(s) contacts were missed and the number of days between missed contacts.

was discharged: (2) the child was returned to birth parents or adopted; or (3) the child's case was still active. The auditors analyzed data on 45 sampled cases (the 15 cases with alerts and 30 cases in which auditors performed in-depth reviews). From these 45 cases, there were 16 cases that had subsequent PAMS reviews in 2022 and 2023. To evaluate the accuracy of PAMS case record reviews and to determine whether additional alerts were issued by PAMS reviewers, the auditors reviewed responses to all 25 PAMS Safety Case Record Review Questions for all 16 cases. Furthermore, to ascertain whether casework contact requirements were satisfied with the children and foster parents, the auditors evaluated the required case contact raw data received from ACS.

To determine whether the APA unit conducted the required in-person and/or virtual site visits to residential facilities during the period from Fiscal Years 2021 through 2023, auditors selected 4 of 14 residential foster care providers based on PAMS-identified alerts issued to those providers during Fiscal Year 2021. The auditors analyzed APA Residential Site Visit Summary Reports that APA monitors drafted to document the site visits.

To determine whether any of the Fiscal Years 2021 through 2023 OSI substantiated child abuse incidents were associated with any of the sampled 172 PAMS-reviewed cases performed in Fiscal Year 2021, the auditors compared the data for both populations and identified 10 foster care cases involving 17 incidents. The auditors obtained detailed information on these 17 incidents to determine what actions were taken on the part of ACS and the foster care agencies to resolve incidents and ensure that children involved were safe.

The results of the above tests, while not projectable to their respective populations whenever a sample was used, provided a reasonable basis for the auditors to evaluate whether ACS adequately monitored the children in its foster care program.

Appendix I

25 Categories Included in the Review Instrument Devoted to Child

25 Caregories	meloaca		-	IVC VIC II		Devoica	10	
Safety								
SAFETY								
S1 Is the most curre	nt FASP avai	lable d	urin	a the revie	w period?			

S1 . Is the most current FASP available during the review period?
☐ Yes
☐ No (If "No" select "No FASP" for S5, S15, S16, P6, P7, P8, P9, P10, P11, P12, P13)
☐ N/A, FASP completed by ACS Case Manager (Skip S5, S15, S16, P6, P7, P8, P9, P10, P11, P12, P13)
☐ No, not case planning agency (If "No" select "No FASP, not case planning agency" for S5, S15, S16, P6, P7, P8, P9, P10, P11, P12, P13)
S2. Does the agency have case planning responsibility?
Yes
☐ No (If no, skip S3, S4 and S4a)
S2a. Is this case shared by more than one Foster Care agency?
Yes
☐ No (If No, skip to S3 and then skip P15, P27)
S2b . Did the child planning agency engage the case planning agency around completion of the FASP or vice versa?
☐ Yes
□ No
S3. What is the Program choice in the most recent FASP? Select all that apply.
☐ Protective
☐ Placement
☐ Preventive
☐ Non-LDSS Custody
☐ No FASP

☐ No FASP, not case planning agency
S4 . Is the program choice selected in the most recent FASP consistent with case circumstances?
☐ Yes (Skip to S5)
□ No
☐ No, not case planning agency (Skip to S5)
☐ No FASP (Skip to S5)
☐ No FASP, not case planning agency (Skip to S5)
S4a. If no, select all that apply:
Should have selected both protective and placement program choices and did not
☐ Should <u>not</u> have selected a <u>protective</u> program choice and <u>did</u>
Should have selected a <u>placement</u> program choice and did <u>not</u>
S5 . Is the safety assessment in the FASP consistent with the case circumstances? Please select all that apply:
☐ Yes
☐ No, Safety Factors not consistent with case circumstances
☐ No, Safety Factors not consistent with case circumstances☐ No, Safety Decision not consistent with case circumstances
·
□ No, Safety Decision not consistent with case circumstances
 No, Safety Decision not consistent with case circumstances No, Controlling intervention(s) not consistent with case circumstances No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the case record but were not identified in the
 No, Safety Decision not consistent with case circumstances No, Controlling intervention(s) not consistent with case circumstances No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the case record but were not identified in the Safety Assessment in the FASP No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the Safety Assessment in the FASP but were
 No, Safety Decision not consistent with case circumstances No, Controlling intervention(s) not consistent with case circumstances No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the case record but were not identified in the Safety Assessment in the FASP No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the Safety Assessment in the FASP but were not identified in the case record
 No, Safety Decision not consistent with case circumstances No, Controlling intervention(s) not consistent with case circumstances No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the case record but were not identified in the Safety Assessment in the FASP No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the Safety Assessment in the FASP but were not identified in the case record No, Documentation is insufficient in the FASP and progress notes
 No, Safety Decision not consistent with case circumstances No, Controlling intervention(s) not consistent with case circumstances No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the case record but were not identified in the Safety Assessment in the FASP No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the Safety Assessment in the FASP but were not identified in the case record No, Documentation is insufficient in the FASP and progress notes No, Completed a CPS FASP but should have completed a Non-CPS FASP
 No, Safety Decision not consistent with case circumstances No, Controlling intervention(s) not consistent with case circumstances No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the case record but were not identified in the Safety Assessment in the FASP No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the Safety Assessment in the FASP but were not identified in the case record No, Documentation is insufficient in the FASP and progress notes No, Completed a CPS FASP but should have completed a Non-CPS FASP No, Completed a Non-CPS FASP and should have completed a CPS FASP
 No, Safety Decision not consistent with case circumstances No, Controlling intervention(s) not consistent with case circumstances No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the case record but were not identified in the Safety Assessment in the FASP No, Safety Factors/Concerns were recorded in the Safety Assessment in the FASP but were not identified in the case record No, Documentation is insufficient in the FASP and progress notes No, Completed a CPS FASP but should have completed a Non-CPS FASP No, Completed a Non-CPS FASP and should have completed a CPS FASP No, Other (Please specify)

S6. Were there any Safety Factor(s) that placed the child in immediate or impending danger of serious harm? If yes, please specify the Safety Factor(s) by checking all that apply:

Yes, F1. Based on your present assessment and review of prior history of abuse or maltreatment, the Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) is unable or unwilling to protect the child.
Yes, F2. Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) currently uses alcohol to the extent that it negatively impacts his/her ability to supervise, protect and/or care for the child.
Yes, F3. Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) currently uses illicit drugs or misuses prescription medication to the extent that it negatively impacts his/her ability to supervise, protect and/or care for the child.
Yes, F4. Child has experienced or is likely to experience physical or psychological harm as a result of domestic violence in the household.
Yes, F5. Parent(s)/Caretaker(s)'s apparent or diagnosed medical or mental health status or developmental disability negatively impacts his/her ability to supervise, protect, and/or care for the child.
☐ Yes, F6. Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) has a recent history of violence and/or is currently violent and out of control.
Yes, F7. Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) is unable and/or unwilling to meet the child's needs for food, clothing, shelter, education, medical or mental health care and/or control child's behavior.
\square Yes, F8. Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) is unable and/or unwilling to provide adequate supervision of the child.
☐ Yes, F9. Child has experienced serious and/or repeated physical harm or injury and/or the
Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) has made a plausible threat of serious harm or injury to the child.
Yes, F10. Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) views, describes or acts toward the child in predominantly negative terms and/or has extremely unrealistic expectations of the child.
☐ Yes, F11. Child's current whereabouts cannot be ascertained and/or there is reason to believe the family is about to flee or refuses access to the child.
Yes, F12. Child has been or is suspected of being sexually abused or exploited and the Parent(s)/ Caretaker(s) is unable or unwilling to provide adequate protection of the child.
☐ Yes, F13. The physical condition of the home is hazardous to the safety of the child.
Yes, F14. Child expresses or exhibits fear of being in the home due to current behaviors of Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) or other persons living in or frequenting the household.
☐ Yes, F15. Child has a positive toxicology for drugs and/or alcohol.
Yes, F16. Child has significant vulnerability, is developmentally delayed, or medically fragile (e.g., on Apnea Monitor) and the Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) is unable and/or unwilling to provide adequate care and/or protection of the child.
Yes, F17. Weapon noted in CPS report or found in the home and Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) is unable and/or unwilling to protect the child from potential harm
☐ Yes, F18. Criminal activity in the home negatively impacts Parent(s)/Caretaker(s) ability to supervise, protect and/or care for the child.
☐ Yes, Other: (Please specify)
☐ No (Skip to S11)

S7 . Were Controlling Interventions/Safety Plan provided to fully control the Safety Factors(s)?
☐ Yes, Controlling Interventions were provided
☐ Yes Partially, Some but not all controlling intervention(s) were provided (Answer S7a, <u>Issue Safety Alert</u> , then skip to S11)
☐ No controlling intervention(s) were provided (Answer S7a, Issue Safety Alert , then skip to S11)
S7a . If "No" or "Yes, Partially," what controlling interventions should have been provided? Please check all that apply (then skip to S11).
☐ Intensive Home-Based Family Preservation Services
☐ Emergency Shelter
☐ Domestic Violence Shelter
☐ The Non-Offending Parent/Caretaker has been Moved to a Safe Environment with the Child
Authorization of Emergency Food/Cash/Goods
☐ Judicial Intervention
Order of Protection
☐ Law Enforcement Involvement
☐ Emergency Medical Services
☐ Crisis Mental Health Services
☐ Emergency In-patient Mental Health Services
☐ Immediate Supervision/Monitoring
☐ Emergency Drug/Alcohol Abuse Services
☐ Correction or Removal of Hazardous/Unsafe Living Conditions
☐ Placement – Foster Care
☐ Placement – Alternate Caregiver
☐ Movement
☐ Supervised Visitation
Use of Family, Neighbors, or Other Individuals in the Community as Safety Resources
☐ Alleged Perpetrator has left the Household Voluntarily and Current Caretaker will Appropriately Protect the Victims
☐ Alleged Perpetrator has left the Household in Response to Legal Action
☐ Follow-up to Verify Child's Whereabouts/Gain Access to the Child

Other (Please specify)
\$8 . Which of the following Controlling Interventions were provided to control the Safety Factor(s)?
☐ Intensive Home-Based Family Preservation Services
☐ Emergency Shelter
☐ Domestic Violence Shelter
☐ The Non-Offending Parent/Caretaker has been Moved to a Safe Environment with the Child
☐ Authorization of Emergency Food/Cash/Goods
☐ Judicial Intervention
☐ Order of Protection
☐ Law Enforcement Involvement
☐ Emergency Medical Services
☐ Crisis Mental Health Services
☐ Emergency In-patient Mental Health Services
☐ Immediate Supervision/Monitoring
☐ Emergency Drug/Alcohol Abuse Services
Correction or Removal of Hazardous/Unsafe Living Conditions
☐ Placement – Foster Care
☐ Placement – Alternate Caregiver
☐ Movement
☐ Supervised Visitation
☐ Use of Family, Neighbors, or Other Individuals in the Community as Safety Resources
☐ Alleged Perpetrator has left the Household Voluntarily and Current Caretaker will Appropriately Protect the Victims
☐ Alleged Perpetrator has left the Household in Response to Legal Action
☐ Follow-up to Verify Child's Whereabouts/Gain Access to the Child
Other (Please specify)
S9 . Were the Controlling Intervention(s)/Safety Plan implemented without delay upon identification of the Safety Factor(s)?
Yes
□ No

S10. Did the controlling interventions/safety plan provide for the child's safety?
☐ Yes
□ No
S11 . Were there any child service need(s) and/or Non-CPS Concern(s) that placed the child in immediate or impending danger of serious harm? If yes, please specify the child service need(s) and/or Non-CPS Safety Concern(s) by checking all that apply:
☐ Yes, Suicidal child/ Suicidal Ideation / Self-Mutilating Behavior
☐ Yes, Substance abuse by child
Yes, Violent child
☐ Yes, Teen Domestic Violence
☐ Yes, Parenting Teen Concerns
\square Yes, Child has experienced physical harm as a result of violence and/or has been a victim of abusive or threatening incidents in the school or neighborhood
☐ Yes, Truancy/ School Tardiness
☐ Yes, Mental Health/Mental Illness
Yes, Developmental Disability/Delays/Learning Disorder
Yes, Child has medical needs, physical illness or physical disability
Yes, Child exhibiting disruptive and/or aggressive behavior
Yes, APPLA Youth – Housing Services
☐ Yes, AWOL/Repeat AWOL
☐ Yes, Gang involvement by child
☐ Yes, Criminal involvement by child
$\hfill \square$ Yes, Unprotected/promiscuous sexual activity by child/Inappropriate sexualized behavior by child
☐ Yes, Family crisis
☐ Yes, Sudden loss of parent or primary caretaker
Yes, Academic concern(s)/Poor academic performance
Yes, Other (Please specify)
☐ No (Skip to S15)

\$12 . Was an action(s)/a service(s) provided in response to the child service need(s) and/or Non-CPS Concern(s)? Please check all that apply:
☐ Yes, SCR Report (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Safety FTC (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Supervised Visitation (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Placement (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Movement (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Tutoring / Remedial Services (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Order of Protection (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Judicial Intervention (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Law Enforcement Involvement (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Teen Domestic Violence Services (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Teen Parenting Skills, Guidance, Education, Support Services (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Medical Services (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Mental Health Services (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Family Therapy (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Substance/Alcohol Abuse Services (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, AWOL Protocol
☐ Yes, Casework Counseling (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Health Homes (aka Bridges to Health) (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Home Care, Homemaker, Home Health Aide Services (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, IFSP, CPSE, CSE, IEP Evaluation (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, IFSP, CPSE, CSE, IEP Services (Skip to S13)
$\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $
\square Yes, Use of Family, Neighbors, or Other Individuals in the Community as Safety Resources (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Cash Assistance, Application for Public Assistance, Food Pantry, etc. (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Housing Assistance including Rent Arrears or Homeless Shelter (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Correction or Removal of Hazardous/Unsafe Living Conditions (Skip to S13)
☐ Yes, Referral (Please specify) (Skip to S13)

□ S13		Please spe	cify)					(Skip to
	COVID-19	Related	Barrier	Documented	(Please	specify	service(s)	impacted)
	(If 'COVIE	D-19' only	or If 'COV	ID-19' + any 'Ye	es', Skip to	S13)		
Saf		a Risk Aleı	<u>rt</u>) (If "Yes	action(s)/service Partially is sele				
	No (<u>Issue No</u>	n-CPS Sa	fety Alert	, answer S12a	and then s	kip to S15	5)	
S12		Yes Partia	lly," what	services should	have beer	n provided	ป๋? Please ch	neck all that
	SCR Report							
	Safety FTC							
	Supervised V	isitation						
	Placement							
	Movement							
	Tutoring / Rer	medial Ser	vices					
	Order of Prote	ection						
	Judicial Interv	ention						
	Law Enforcen	nent Involv	ement					
	Teen Domest	ic Violence	e Services	;				
	Teen Parentir	ng Skills, G	Suidance,	Education, Sup	port Servic	es		
	Medical Servi	ces						
	Mental Health	Services						
	Family Thera	ру						
	Substance/Al	cohol Abus	se Service	es				
	AWOL Protoc	ol						
	Casework Co	unseling						
	Health Homes	s (aka Brid	ges to He	alth)				
	Home Care, H	Homemake	er, Home l	Health Aide Ser	vices			
	IFSP, CPSE,	CSE, IEP	Evaluatio	n				
	IFSP, CPSE,	CSE, IEP	Services					

☐ Coordination with other collateral service providers to decrease the behavior(s) or concern(s)
☐ Use of Family, Neighbors, or Other Individuals in the Community as Safety Resources
☐ Cash Assistance, Application for Public Assistance, Food Pantry, etc.
☐ Housing Assistance including Rent Arrears or Homeless Shelter
☐ Correction or Removal of Hazardous/Unsafe Living Conditions
Referral (Please specify)
Other Services (Please specify)
S13. Was the action(s)/service(s) provided without delay?
☐ Yes
□ No
S14 . Did the action(s)/service(s) provide for the child's safety and/or needs?
☐ Yes
□ No
\$15 . Are the Family Strengths, Needs, and Risk (SNR) assessment scales consistent with case circumstances?
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
circumstances?
circumstances? ☐ Yes (Skip to S16)
circumstances? ☐ Yes (Skip to S16) ☐ Yes Partially
circumstances? Yes (Skip to S16) Yes Partially No (Skip to S16)
circumstances? Yes (Skip to S16) Yes Partially No (Skip to S16) No FASP (Skip to S16)
circumstances? Yes (Skip to S16) Yes Partially No (Skip to S16) No FASP (Skip to S16)
circumstances? Yes (Skip to S16) Yes Partially No (Skip to S16) No FASP (Skip to S16) No FASP, not case planning agency (Skip to S16) S15a. If S15 is 'Yes Partially', please identify which scale(s) was inconsistent with other
circumstances? Yes (Skip to S16) Yes Partially No (Skip to S16) No FASP (Skip to S16) No FASP, not case planning agency (Skip to S16) S15a. If S15 is 'Yes Partially', please identify which scale(s) was inconsistent with other documented case information. Please check all that apply.
circumstances? Yes (Skip to S16) Yes Partially No (Skip to S16) No FASP (Skip to S16) No FASP, not case planning agency (Skip to S16) S15a. If S15 is 'Yes Partially', please identify which scale(s) was inconsistent with other documented case information. Please check all that apply. Family SNR Scale (Please specify)
circumstances? Yes (Skip to S16) Yes Partially No (Skip to S16) No FASP (Skip to S16) No FASP, not case planning agency (Skip to S16) S15a. If S15 is 'Yes Partially', please identify which scale(s) was inconsistent with other documented case information. Please check all that apply. Family SNR Scale (Please specify) Child SNR Scale (Please specify)
circumstances? Yes (Skip to S16) Yes Partially No (Skip to S16) No FASP (Skip to S16) No FASP, not case planning agency (Skip to S16) S15a. If S15 is 'Yes Partially', please identify which scale(s) was inconsistent with other documented case information. Please check all that apply. Family SNR Scale (Please specify) Child SNR Scale (Please specify)

☐ No (Please specify)
☐ No, not case planning agency
☐ N/A, Non-CPS case and RAP is not required
☐ No FASP
☐ No FASP, not case planning agency
\$17 . Were there any Risk Elements present? If yes, please specify the Risk Element(s) by checking all that apply:
☐ Yes, R1) Indicated CPS report(s) since last assessment and service plan
\square Yes, R2) Any child in the RAP family unit is currently or was previously in the care or custody of any substitute caregivers (informally or formally)
Yes, R3) There is a child under the age of one in the RAP Family Unit
\square Yes, R4) Current or recent history of housing with serious health or safety hazards; extreme overcrowding; unstable housing; or no housing
\square Yes, R5) Financial resources are mismanaged or limited to the degree that one or more basic family needs are intermittently or chronically unmet
\square Yes, R6) Caretaker does not have or utilize reliable and constructive support and assistance from extended family, friends, or neighbors
\square Yes, R7) Caretaker has been a victim or perpetrator of abusive or threatening incidents with partners or other adults in family/neighborhood
\square Yes, R8) Caretaker's alcohol use has had negative effects on child care, family relationships, jobs, or arrests within the past 2 years
\square Yes, R9) Caretaker's drug use has had negative effects on child care, family relationships, jobs, or arrests within the past 2 years
\square Yes, R10) Caretaker's behavior suggests a mental health problem exists and/or caretaker has a diagnosed mental illness
☐ Yes, R11) Caretaker(s) has very limited cognitive skills
☐ Yes, R12) Caretaker(s) has a debilitating physical illness or physical disability
\square Yes, R13) Caretaker(s) does not demonstrate developmentally appropriate expectations of <u>all</u> children.
\square Yes, R14) Caretaker(s) does not attend to the needs of <u>all</u> children and does not prioritize the children's needs above his/her own needs or desires
\square Yes, R15) Caretaker(s) does not understand the seriousness of current or potential harm to the child(ren), and is not willing to address any areas of concern
Yes, ER1) Death of a child as a result of abuse or maltreatment by caretaker(s)
☐ Yes, ER2) Parental rights terminated for 1 or more children within the last year

☐ Yes, ER3) Sexual abuse of a child by caretaker(s) since the last assessment/reassessment
$\hfill \square$ Yes, ER4) Serious physical abuse of a child by caretaker(s) since the last assessment/reassessment
$\hfill \square$ Yes, ER5) A new infant was born with positive toxicology for alcohol or drugs since the last assessment/reassessment
☐ No (Skip to S19)
☐ N/A, Child is freed (Skip to S19)
S18 . If Risk Elements R4 – ER5 were identified, was a service provided to address them? Please check all that apply.
☐ Yes, Casework counseling specific to the risk element(s) (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Correction or removal of hazardous/unsafe living conditions (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Assistance applying for Health Insurance/Medical Benefits (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Assistance provided with Mental Health Services (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Assistance provided with Medical Services (Skip to S19)
$\hfill \square$ Yes, Assistance with Substance/Alcohol Abuse Services or Toxicology Screening (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Assistance with Domestic Violence Services (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Preventive Services (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Visit Coaching (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Family Therapy (Skip to S19)
Yes, Coordination with other collateral service providers to decrease risk (school personnel, other community resources, leaders/organizations in the family's religious community, health care/mental health resources) (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Use of Family, neighbors, or other individuals in the community as risk mitigating resources (may provide temporary childcare, temporary shelter, transportation, donations of food, clothing, household goods, in-home monitoring, etc.) (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Parenting skills classes/Guidance (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Anger management classes (Skip to S19)
$\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $
☐ Yes, Afterschool program (Skip to S19)
Yes, Aftercare Services/ Health Homes (aka B2H) (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Child Care Services (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Assistance with housing (Skip to S19)

☐ Yes, Home Care, Homemaker, Home Health Aide Services (Skip to S19)
\square Yes, Cash assistance, furniture assistance, application for Public Assistance, food pantry (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Elevated Risk Conference (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Diligent efforts to engage and/or locate the parent(s) (Skip to S19)
\square Yes, Explored both parents' (if available) willingness to surrender their parental rights (Skip to S19)
\square Yes, Explored both parents' (if available) willingness to a conditional surrender their parental rights (open adoption) (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Explored or KinGap Petition filed (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, ICPC Application submitted (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Referral (Please specify)(Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, TPR filed (Skip to S19)
☐ Yes, Other (Please specify) (Skip to S19)
COVID-19 Related Barrier Documented (Please specify service(s) impacted)
(If 'COVID-19' only or If 'COVID-19' + any 'Yes', Skip to S19)
Yes Partially, service(s) were provided to address some but not all of the Risk Elements identified (Speak with Manager if unsure/unclear about an unaddressed risk element and possible need for a Risk Alert) (If "Yes Partially is selected, disable all "Yes", "No" and "N/A" responses)
☐ No (Issue Risk Alert)
\square N/A, no services required – R1, R2 and R3 are the only responses selected for S17 (Skip to S19)
S18a . If "No" or "Yes Partially", what services should have been referred or provided? Please check all that apply.
Casework counseling specific to the risk element(s)
Correction or removal of hazardous/unsafe living conditions
Assistance applying for Public Assistance
Assistance applying for Health Insurance/Medical Benefits
Assistance/provided with Mental Health Services
Assistance / provided with Medical Services
Assistance with Substance/Alcohol Abuse Services or Toxicology Screening
Assistance with Domestic Violence Services

☐ Preventive Services
☐ Visit Coaching
☐ Family Therapy
\square Coordination with other collateral service providers to decrease risk (school personnel, other community resources, leaders/organizations in the family's religious community, health care/mental health resources)
\square Use of Family, neighbors, or other individuals in the community as risk mitigating resources (may provide temporary childcare, temporary shelter, transportation, donations of food, clothing, household goods, in-home monitoring, etc.)
☐ Parenting Skills Classes/Guidance
Anger Management Classes
Assessment of other adult(s) in the caretaker's home who were not previously assessed
☐ Afterschool Program
☐ Aftercare Services/ Health Homes (aka B2H)
☐ Child Care Services
Assistance with housing
☐ Home Care, Homemaker, Home Health Aide Services
☐ Cash assistance, furniture assistance, application for Public Assistance, food pantry
☐ Elevated Risk Conference
☐ Diligent efforts to engage and/or locate the parent(s)
Explored both parents' (if available) willingness to surrender their parental rights
$\hfill \Box$ Explored both parents' (if available) willingness to a conditional surrender their parental rights (open adoption)
Explored or KinGap Petition filed
☐ Submit ICPC Application
Referral (Please specify)
☐ TPR filed
Other Services (Please specify)
☐ N/A, Insufficient time to provide a service
S19. Did the case worker coordinate services with each of the agency staff/service providers or other agencies involved with the family to address the family's service needs (i.e. conferencing, meeting etc.)?☐ Yes (Skip to S20)

☐ Yes Partially, some but not all providers or diligent efforts were made to coordinate services
□ No
☐ N/A, all services are exclusively provided by the caseworker (Skip to S20)
S19a. If "Yes Partially, some but not all providers" or "No", list the service provider(s) the case
worker did not coordinate with?
COO Did the coop worker identify any harriers to comise?
S20 . Did the case worker identify any barriers to services?
Yes
☐ No, (Skip to S23)
\$20a .What barriers to services did the case worker identify? Please check all that apply.
Youth/Family expressed hesitation and/or concerns about a specific service or referral
Youth/Family expressed lack of knowledge around services and how they could be helpful
Youth/Family is physically removed/far from service provider(s)'s location
Youth/Family lacks sufficient funds to obtain transportation
☐ Youth/Family's schedule conflicts with service plan activities/tasks/appointments
☐ Youth/Family's language needs limit their ability to engage service provider(s) or service provider(s) has not met/addressed family's language need, including sign language services
☐ Youth/Family's disability hinders their ability to attend appointments/meetings
☐ Youth/Family perceives community/neighborhood as unsafe or risky to follow up with services
Youth/Family has cultural beliefs that conflict with their need to follow up with services or referrals
☐ Youth/Family feels overwhelmed by services or referrals
☐ Youth/Family in the home are refusing services or referrals
☐ Youth/Family has been critical towards services and deems them unhelpful
☐ Youth/Family fears lack of privacy and confidentiality
☐ Youth/Family not following through on agreed upon services

☐ Referred provider denied youth/family services
☐ Waiting List
☐ Lack of health insurance or provider does not accept youth/family's health insurance
☐ Immigration status
Other (Please specify)
S21 . Did the case worker explore or discuss these barriers to services with the family?
Yes
☐ Yes Partially, Some but not all barriers to services
□ No
$\hfill \square$ N/A, parent(s)/discharge resource unavailable/whereabouts unknown/no discharge resource (Skip to S23)
☐ N/A, question not appropriate given child's age/development AND child freed (Skip to S23)
S22. Did the case worker develop possible solutions/alternatives to these barriers?
☐ Yes
☐ Yes Partially, Some but not all barriers
☐ No (Skip to S23)
S22a.What solutions/alternatives did the case worker develop? Please check all that apply.
☐ Case worker increased home visits/ outreach in efforts to engage the youth/family
$\hfill \square$ Case worker recommended alternative referrals or services in the community for the youth/family
$\hfill \square$ Case worker helped youth/family identify other adults that could provide emotional support to them
$\hfill \square$ Case worker scheduled meetings/appointments that were convenient to the youth/family's schedule
$\hfill \square$ Case worker utilized/reached out to other providers in the youth/family's life in efforts to engage them
$\hfill \Box$ Case worker connected the youth/family with concrete services or support that facilitated access to services or referrals
☐ Case worker provided training and/or guidance around parenting issues/skills/ concerns
$\hfill \Box$ Case worker clarified goals and/or services/referrals; case worker enhanced youth/family's understanding of services/referrals

$\hfill \square$ Case worker provided positive reinforcement, and expressed commitment to helping the youth/family
\square Case worker connected the youth/family with resources to meet their language needs; case worker assisted the youth/family with their language needs, including translation and/or sign language services
☐ Case worker linked the youth/family with transportation resources
$\hfill \square$ Case worker explored the family's reservations/concerns and discussed the benefits to services/referrals
Other (Please specify)
S23 . Were diligent efforts made to meet the family's language needs (i.e. translator, assignment of case to case worker who speaks the same language) for families with limited English proficiency?
☐ Yes
□ No
□ N/A
S24 . Does the case record document that the current placement is a safe and healthy setting for this particular child?
☐ Yes
☐ No (<u>Issue Safety Alert</u>)
S25. Is the child safe at the end of the review period?
Yes
☐ No (<u>Issue Safety Alert</u>)



October 21, 2024

Maura Haves-Chaffe Deputy Comptroller for Audit Office of The Comptroller 1 Centre Street

Jess Dannhauser Commissioner New York, NY 10007

Eden Hauslaib Chief Accountability Officer RE: Audit Report on the Administration for Children's Services' Monitoring of the Safety of Children in Foster Care MJ22-064A

Jennifer Fiellman **Assistant Commissioner**

Dear Deputy Comptroller Hayes-Chaffe:

150 William Street 7th Floor

Thank you for the opportunity to review the NYC Comptroller Audit Report on the Administration for Children's Services' ("ACS") Monitoring of the Safety of Children in Foster Care shared on October 4, 2024 and thank you for the New York, NY 10038 opportunity to comment.

> The audit report states that ACS' mechanisms to monitor the safety of children in foster care are "generally adequate," affirms ACS' monitoring processes including case reviews and safety alerts, and recognizes that caseworkers are making at least 95% of required case contacts with foster children.

> However, ACS strongly disagrees with the audit report's detailed findings. The audit misrepresents data ACS shared on maltreatment in foster care. Also, the audit errs in alleging "a serious deficiency in the oversight over residential care facilities" by misstating the basis of the ACS Agency Program Assistance unit's semiannual residential site visits, which are neither required by law nor by state regulations or ACS policy.

ACS has a layered system for monitoring safety in foster care that includes:

- thousands of comprehensive case reviews each year;
- a tightly structured safety alert process when ACS staff note concerns in case records;
- a monthly review of child safety data with each contracted provider to make sure children are seen as often as required;
- multiple visits each month to all residential sites by a foster care case assistance unit;
- a dedicated response team for major safety concerns when they arise;
- quarterly data sharing and improvement planning with provider agencies; and
- an annual scorecard with substantial outcomes, process and practice data.

ACS monitoring of safety in foster care exceeds what is mandated by law and required by state or city policy, and in practice propels the foster care system toward constant improvement and strong outcomes.

1. Maltreatment Incidents in Foster Homes

Any maltreatment of a child in a foster home is unacceptable. ACS monitors its

contracted foster care agencies constantly to make certain children are safe. In recent years, including the years covered by the audit, ACS dramatically reduced the number of incidents of maltreatment in foster care by identifying the types of situations in which it occurs and addressing them at the individual and system levels.

In each of the years covered in this audit report, the number of children who experienced substantiated maltreatment in a foster home was 1% or fewer of all children who spent any time in foster care during the year. Over the four years covered by the audit, the number of children who experienced substantiated abuse or neglect in their foster home fell 36%, from 105 children to 67 children. The correct data, which ACS shared with the audit team, is below:

Table 1. Total of incidents/unique children with substantiated abuse or neglect in foster home

FY	Children in foster care for at least one day during the FY	# of Incidents	# of Unique Children	% of foster children with substantiated Incidents
FY2020	12,956	131	105	0.8%
FY2021	12,172	138	121	1.0%
FY2022	11,713	98	87	0.7%
FY2023	11,136	77	67	0.6%

Every reported allegation of abuse or neglect in a foster home is fully investigated by the ACS Division of Child Protection (DCP). In most indicated cases, the DCP investigations substantiated neglect, most often issues such as a foster parent's failure to properly supervise a foster child, not getting the foster child to school, or failing to attend essential medical or other appointments. In FY2023, there were 19 foster children (or 0.17% of the 11,136 children who spent any time in foster care) who experienced some form of physical abuse or injury in their foster home, including excessive corporal punishment.

ACS has increased supports for foster parents and the agencies that work with them in recent years. We implemented new contracts in July 2023 that integrated regular and therapeutic family foster care into a new model, Enhanced Family Foster Care. All foster parents are now expected to learn skills to provide therapeutic and trauma-informed supports to the children. ACS created and implemented the Trauma Response Informed Parenting Program (TRIPP), a specialized foster parent training to strengthen their capacity to support and care for children who had experienced abuse and neglect.

ACS has also reduced the number of children from different families living in each foster boarding home, which significantly improves the stability of foster care placements.

ACS has steadily increased the percentage of foster children who are cared for by kin, which is more stable than non-kin care and has better outcomes for children. This year, 45% of children in care are living with kin.

ACS has instituted case conferences with foster care agencies, DCP and ACS attorneys during active investigations of foster homes to identify specific concerns and solutions to the issues revealed during the investigation.

ACS, OCFS and the federal government typically report substantiated maltreatment in foster homes as a rate of children experiencing maltreatment per 100,000 care days. In New York City, this rate

dropped from 4.6 to 3.2 children experiencing maltreatment per 100,000 care days during the period under review, FY2020 to FY2023 (as reflected in the FY2024 Mayor's Management Report).

2. Incidents During Visits and Trial Discharges

An entirely different category of maltreatment experienced by foster children occurs *outside* the foster home, most frequently when children are visiting with their own parents or are in the process of discharge and reunification. This accounts for more than 80% of the children in maltreatment incidents:

Table 2. Total of incidents/unique children with substantiated abuse or neglect outside foster home

FY	Children in foster care for at least one day during the FY	# Incidents	# Unique Children	% of foster children with substantiated Incidents		
FY2020	12,956	545	485	3.7%		
FY2021	12,172	493	426	3.5%		
FY2022	11,713	459	413	3.5%		
FY2023	11,136	317	268	2.4%		

The number of children who have experienced substantiated maltreatment while with parents or relatives dropped dramatically as ACS implemented new guidance starting in 2021 and increased visiting trainings and related efforts. In FY2020, 3.7% of children in foster care (485 children) experienced a substantiated incident of maltreatment during a visit, trial discharge or otherwise outside the foster home. In FY2023, that number had declined to 2.4% (268 children).

ACS and its contracted provider agencies seek to prevent any maltreatment that occurs during visitation or the reunification process. Reports of suspected maltreatment to the SCR and the resulting child protection investigations reflect the vigilance of these providers in monitoring for safety. ACS legal tracking data show that about one-third of these cases occurred during supervised visits. Calls to the State Central Register hotline alleging concerns of possible maltreatment were likely made by someone present during the visit. This reflects appropriate monitoring of safety.

The audit report incorrectly states that ACS "cannot identify incidents that occur during visitations under provider control". In fact, each incident of alleged maltreatment involving a foster child is fully investigated by DCP, and every detail about the court-ordered legal status of the child is fully documented and understood by the caseworkers, investigators, attorneys and court personnel involved in the case—including whether a visit was ordered by the court, supervised, unsupervised, and/or involved the discretion of a contracted foster care agency.

Some of these incidents occurred during trial discharge—the period while a child is home, prior to final discharge, as approved by the court. Still others occurred during unsupervised visits. In FY2023, for example, of the 317 incidents of substantiated abuse or neglect outside the foster home (involving 268 foster children), 101 incidents (32%) occurred during supervised visits with a parent; 33 (10%) occurred during unsupervised visits; 34 (11%) occurred during overnight or weekend visits; 27 (9%) occurred on visits that were "not allowed"; 29 (9%) are coded as occurring during visits that occurred at an agency's discretion; and 69 (22%) occurred during a trial discharge.

In the very large majority of foster care cases, parents have a fundamental legal right to visit with their children. The audit report correctly cites the Family Court Act, Section 1030c, which

emphasizes that "parents are to be granted reasonable and regularly scheduled visitation unless the court finds that the child's life or health would be endangered." The law adds that the presumption is that visitation will be unsupervised unless the child's life, health or safety are in imminent danger.

Parents and children have a presumptive right to regular visitation, which is affirmed in case law, regulations, state social services law and ACS and state Office of Children and Family Services (OCFS) guidance. On page 6, the audit states, "In some instances, decisions concerning visitation and supervision are made by Family Court rather than ACS." In fact, all visitation decisions, including extended visitation arrangements, are court-ordered or court-approved.

ACS and OCFS guidance on visitation, including in 17-OCFS-ADM-14, makes clear that visitation should be supervised *only* when there are safety issues that may endanger the child's physical or emotional safety. The guidance further states that "Supervision is appropriate when one or more of the following conditions exist:

- There is a court order that requires supervised visits.
- There is reason to believe that the child may be at serious risk of physical and/or emotional harm or injury during the visit.
- There is reason to believe that the parent may attempt to influence, interfere with, manipulate, or coerce the child's potential testimony in court.
- There is reason to believe that the parent may abscond with the child.
- In the presence of the child, a parent has displayed explosive, emotionally uncontrolled behavior toward agency staff or the foster parent(s)."

Foster care agencies do not have discretion to limit or terminate visitation rights absent a court order. Their obligation is to pursue visits with the "least restrictive level of supervision."

OCFS guidance, following state law, says "unsupervised parenting and family visiting time should be implemented as early as is safely possible to promote healthy, positive connections for the child and the entire family. Parent-child and family contact should occur in settings that encourage the most natural interaction between family members while minimizing any risk that may exist to the child."

ACS supplies extensive guidance and training to foster care agencies on discharge planning and visitation. A December 2021 guidance on permanency decision-making in reunification cases includes important information on consulting with ACS attorneys and includes a "step-by-step guide for advancing decision-making towards reunification." Our ACS Family Visiting Unit provides tools and frequent trainings to foster care agency staff. The training, offered every five to six weeks, includes discussion of safety concerns and introduces participants to ACS' Visiting Tool, which can help agencies make deliberate and thoughtful assessments about families' readiness for unsupervised visits.

It is essential that provider agencies and others report suspicions of child maltreatment during visitation or trial discharge. Staff are trained to properly monitor for safety and, when necessary, make reports to the SCR that are then investigated by DCP.

3. Monitoring of Congregate Residential Facilities

The audit errs in asserting "a serious deficiency in the oversight over residential care facilities." To justify this statement, the report points to a gap in the schedule of semiannual visits by one ACS unit, a unit that conducts congregate facility site visits that are not mandated under state law, OCFS

regulations, or ACS policy. The audit disregards the otherwise comprehensive oversight—by both the state and ACS—of these facilities and the children who live there.

The Agency Program Assistance (APA) unit's visits to residential programs described in the audit report are only one aspect of the frequent ACS presence at and oversight of its contracted congregate foster care programs. These visits provide an extra layer of oversight, yet they are not mandated.

In fact, a separate ACS team, the Residential Care Unit in the Division of Family Permanency Services (FPS), <u>visited each of the four sites mentioned in the audit report almost weekly throughout most of the period cited</u>, except during the most restrictive period of the Covid emergency (March 2020-Summer 2021.) When visiting the sites, the FPS Residential Care Unit spoke with staff and youth and discussed their concerns, including concerns related to their care and safety.

There were good reasons for not sending an additional team to these programs too often during the time in question. During the COVID pandemic, from March 12, 2020, to June 25, 2022, four mayoral Executive Orders, as well as directives from the state Department of Health and OCFS, prohibited or restricted in-person site-visits to residential care programs. New York City also issued additional Emergency Executive Orders extending use of quarantines until October 27, 2022. With these restrictions in mind, the APA team coordinated with FPS and providers to make sure visits were limited and responsible. Social distancing mandates required careful coordination of the number of visitors, including attorneys, ACS staff, families and service providers, who were allowed on-site each day to comply with federal guidelines.

Prior to the pandemic, all residential programs received a combination of unannounced and announced visits by APA. In March 2021, ACS recommenced these visits using virtual walkthroughs. By December 2021, APA began a carefully managed schedule of in-person visits, with each site receiving two visits by the following September 2022.

Also at that time, ACS implemented the extensive residential requirements of the Family First Prevention Services Act, which included comprehensive review of program plans and technical support for state-authorized Qualified Residential Treatment Programs (QRTPs), which include most of our residential facilities. During this period, the New York State OCFS conducted comprehensive on-site visits to these residential to assess for safety. To be certified as QRTPs, facilities also must be accredited by a federally-approved accreditation organization — site visits are a component of the comprehensive accreditation process.

In January 2023, ACS announced awards for new foster care contracts. This required an immediate shift for APA to coordinating the rapid transition of children and close-down of several sites in time for the launch of new contracts in July 2023. ACS made the executive decision to suspend the non-mandated APA residential site visits for the second half of FY23. Meanwhile, APA continued to hold monthly safety and risk reviews with provider programs. APA also completed unannounced visits to the JCCA campus in Pleasantville and the Good Shepherd Services programs on East 17th St, based on concerns raised by FPS following its team's visits to both sites.

Throughout this period, the FPS Residential Care Permanency Planning Unit continued to visit each of the sites weekly and followed up on any concerns uncovered during the visits. New York State OCFS also visited each QRTP facility and newly opening or transitioning programs to ensure compliance with new licensing requirements, including a full assessment of the safety of the facilities.

Beginning in September 2023, APA returned to its schedule of residential facility site visits. By June 2024, all residential facilities under the new contracts had received one announced visit and one unannounced visit. APA also continues to hold monthly safety and risk check meetings with residential care providers to address any concerns and to develop strategic plans as necessary.

Response to Audit Recommendations

"Make all reasonable efforts to collect, aggregate, and analyze data that would allow the
agency to track substantiated incidents that occur during visitations, court-ordered visitations,
and trial discharges to better identify and track the occurrence of incidents over which ACS and
foster care agencies have a greater degree of control and to evaluate outcomes from Family
Court decisions. Use related data and analysis to identify risk factors to inform future decisions
and recommendations."

ACS Response:

We agree with the overarching purpose of this recommendation, which is to make certain that data is aggregated that can be helpful in monitoring the nature of incidents of maltreatment including for provider agencies, ACS and the Family Court—and to guide and track improvements over time. We are able to identify certain characteristics from the ACS Legal Tracking System, including incidents that happen during supervised visits, unsupervised visits, trial discharges, visits that are not supposed to occur, and also, in certain situations, visits that occur at the discretion of provider agencies.

2. "Require any parent found to engage in neglect or abuse during a visitation undergo mandatory counseling to address underlying factors (e.g., substance abuse, anger management) that are a contributing cause of the behavior leading to the maltreatment."

ACS Response:

The service recommendations and other outcomes of any substantiated allegation of maltreatment are highly individualized. They are determined by the child protection team and service providers associated with the family, and they reflect the unique characteristics of each case. Counseling as described in the recommendation may or may not be appropriate, depending on the circumstances, and in some cases the parent may already be participating in counseling.

3. Identify the factors contributing to the decrease in the rate of substantiated instances of neglect or abuse and, where feasible, take steps to continue that trend.

ACS Response:

We certainly agree with this recommendation. ACS previously described these factors to the audit team, and will continue to assess practice and track results for continuous improvement.

4. Ensure that the required number of residential site visits are conducted at all residential care facilities, and that those visits are done in-person and at reasonable intervals.

ACS Response:

The APA site visits are mandated neither by law nor policy. That said, APA returned in September 2023 to its routine schedule of semiannual residential facility site visits. By June 2024, all residential facilities under the newly issued contracts had received one announced visit and one unannounced visit. APA also continues to hold monthly safety and risk check meetings with residential care providers to address any concerns and to develop strategic plans as necessary.

5. Perform unannounced visits to all foster care agency-run residential care facilities on a regular basis to ensure that the children at those facilities continue to receive appropriate care.

ACS Response:

Again, while the APA site visits are mandated neither by law nor policy, we agree that they are a valuable practice. Under the new contracts, all residential sites currently receive at least one announced visit and one unannounced visit by the APA team each year.

Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the draft report. We appreciate the Comptroller's support in our work for the children and families of New York City.

Sincerely yours.

Jennifer Fiellman, Esq.





1 Centre Street, New York, NY 10007 www.comptroller.nyc.gov

✓ @NYCComptroller(212) 669-3916